
 

 
 

Law & Democracy 
Democratic Services 

 

 

 

T O  C O U N C I L L O R : 
 

R H Adams 
N Alam 

S S Athwal 
L A Bentley 
G A Boulter 

L M Broadley 
F S Broadley 

M H Charlesworth 
J K Chohan (Deputy Mayor) 

H E Darling 
M L Darr 
J K Ford 

D A Gamble 
F S Ghattoraya 

C S Gore 
S Z Haq 
G G Hunt 
P Joshi 

R V Joshi 
J Kaufman 

C D Kozlowski (Mayor) 
K J Loydall 

C J R Martin 
R E R Morris 
I K Ridley 

C A M Walter 

 
I summon you to attend the following meeting for the transaction of the business in the agenda below. 
 

Meeting: Full Council 

Date & Time: Thursday, 6 February 2025, 7.00 pm 

Venue: Civic Suite, Brocks Hill Council Offices, Washbrook Lane, Oadby, Leicester, LE2 5JJ 

Special Title: Extraordinary | Proposed New Selective Licensing Scheme 

Contact: Democratic Services 

t:  (0116) 257 2775 

e:  democratic.services@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

 
 Yours faithfully 

 

 
Meeting ID:  2859 

Council Offices 
Oadby 
29 January 2025 

 
 

Anne E Court 
Chief Executive 

 

I T E M  N O .  A G E N D A  P A G E  N O ’ S  

 

 Meeting Live Broadcast | Information and Link  

 This meeting will be broadcast live. 
 
Press & Public Access:  
 
A direct link to the live broadcast of the meeting's proceedings on the Council's 
Civico platform is below.  
 
https://civico.net/oadby-wigston/19881-Full-Council  

 

~ Page 1 ~

https://civico.net/oadby-wigston/19881-Full-Council


 

Full Council 
Thursday, 6 February 2025, 7.00 pm 

 Printed and published by Democratic Services, Oadby 
and Wigston Borough Council, Brocks Hill Council 

Offices, Washbrook Lane, Oadby, Leicester, LE2 5JJ 
 

1.   Calling to Order of the Meeting  

 The meeting of the Council will be called to order to receive Her Worship The 
Mayor and Deputy Mayor. 

 

2.   Apologies for Absence  

 To receive apologies for absence from Members to determine the quorum of the 
meeting in accordance with Rule 7 of Part 4 of the Constitution. 

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members are reminded that any declaration of interest should be made having 
regard to the Members’ Code of Conduct. In particular, Members must make 
clear the nature of the interest and whether it is 'pecuniary' or ‘non-pecuniary'. 

 

4.   Proposed Selective Licensing Scheme (2025 – 2030) 3 - 47 

 Report of the Selective Licensing Team Leader  

 
Access all available public meeting information, documents and live broadcasts on: 

 

   

  
 

Our website at oadby-
wigston.gov.uk/meetings   

Our Civico platform at 
civico.net/oadby-wigston 

Your smart device using  
the Modern.Gov app 

 

~ Page 2 ~

https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/meetings
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/meetings
https://civico.net/oadby-wigston
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/modern-gov/id1453414073
https://www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/meetings
https://civico.net/oadby-wigston
https://apps.apple.com/gb/app/modern-gov/id1453414073


 

 

Full Council 
Thursday, 06 

February 2025 

Matter for 
Information and 

Decision 

 

Report Title: Proposed Selective Licensing Scheme (2025-2030) 

Report Author(s): Ben Clark-Monks (Selective Licensing Team Leader) 
 

Purpose of Report: To provide members with sufficient information to decide if they wish 
to adopt a further Selective Licensing scheme in the Borough for the 
period of 2025 – 2030, following the expiration of the existing scheme 

Report Summary: The report details the proposed selective licensing scheme, associated 
resource matters, supporting evidence and information gathered by 
Officers following an extensive consultation process to allow members 
to make an informed decision on the recommendations outlined 
below. 

Recommendation(s):  
A. That a Selective Licensing Scheme (2025-2030) 

referenced as SLS-A be approved and declared as outlined 
in paragraphs 4 of this report; or 
 

B. That a larger Selective Licensing Scheme (2025-2030) 
referenced as SLS-B be approved and declared as outlined 
in paragraphs 5 of this report;  

 
And 

 
C. Approve a review of staffing and resource within the 

Selective Licensing team to ensure there is sufficient 
resource and capacity in place to effectively deliver any 
approved scheme. 
 

D. Approve the fee structure set out in paragraph 8. 
 

E. Approve the Selective Licensing and Enforcement Policy 
(2025 – 2030) outlined in paragraph 9 and attached at 
appendix 5 

Senior Leadership, 
Head of Service, 
Manager, Officer and 
Other Contact(s): 

Teresa Neal (Strategic Director) 
(0116) 257 2642 
teresa.neal@oadby-wigston.gov.uk  
 
Dave Gill (Head of Law and Democracy/Monitoring Officer) 
(0116) 257 2626 
david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Jon Wells (Strategic Manager) 
(0116) 257 2692 
jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 
 
Ben Clark-Monks (Selective Licensing Team Leader) 
(0116) 257 2883 

~ Page 3 ~

Agenda Item 4

mailto:teresa.neal@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:david.gill@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
mailto:jon.wells@oadby-wigston.gov.uk


 

ben.clark-monks@oadby-wigston.gov.uk 

Strategic Objectives: Our Council (SO1) 
Our Communities (SO2) 
Our Economy (SO3) 
Our Environment (SO4) 
Our Partners (SO5) 

Vision and Values: "Our Borough - The Place To Be” (Vision) 
Customer & Community Focused (V1) 
Proud of Everything We Do (V2)  
Resourceful & Resilient (V4) 

Report Implications:- 

Legal: The implications are as set out at paragraph 7 of this report. 

Financial: The implications are as set out at paragraph(es) 4.6, 5.7 and 8 of this 
report. 

Corporate Risk 
Management: 

Decreasing Financial Resources / Increasing Financial Pressures (CR1) 
Regulatory Governance (CR6) 
Organisational / Transformational Change (CR8) 
Economy / Regeneration (CR9) 

Equalities and Equalities 
Assessment (EA): 

There are no implications arising from this report. 
EA not applicable. 

Human Rights: There are no implications arising from this report. 

Health and Safety: There are no implications directly arising from this report. 

Statutory Officers’ Comments:- 

Head of Paid Service: The report is satisfactory. 

Chief Finance Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Monitoring Officer: The report is satisfactory. 

Consultees: The Council has undertaken an extensive consultation process, which 
is outlined at paragraph 6 of this report with evidence appended as 
per the appendices section of this report. 

Background Papers:  Selective licensing in the private rented sector: a guide for local 
authorities - GOV.UK  

 The Housing Act 2004: Licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation 
and Selective Licensing of Other Residential Accommodation 
(England) General Approval 2024 - GOV.UK 

Appendices: 1. Consultation Outcome Report (To Follow) 
2. Summary of Consultation Responses (To Follow) 
3. Summary of Selective Licensing Engagement Q&A (To Follow) 
4. Consultation Request Card 
5. Selective Licensing and Enforcement Policy (2025 – 2030) 

 

~ Page 4 ~

mailto:ben.clark-monks@oadby-wigston.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities/the-housing-act-2004-licensing-of-houses-in-multiple-occupation-and-selective-licensing-of-other-residential-accommodation-england-general-approval--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities/the-housing-act-2004-licensing-of-houses-in-multiple-occupation-and-selective-licensing-of-other-residential-accommodation-england-general-approval--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/selective-licensing-in-the-private-rented-sector-a-guide-for-local-authorities/the-housing-act-2004-licensing-of-houses-in-multiple-occupation-and-selective-licensing-of-other-residential-accommodation-england-general-approval--2


 

1. Background 

1.1 Selective licencing is a discretionary power granted to Local Authorities under sections 80 to 
84 of the Housing Act 2004. These powers allow an Authority to designate an area or the 
whole of its municipal area as a designated area of Selective Licensing. 

1.2 Following a review of the powers in 2015 designations fell into two categories, those that 
designate less than 20% of the Authority’s area or less than 20% of the total private rented 
stock, known as general approval designations or those that are above this level which 
require approval by the Secretary of State. 

1.3 On the 16th December an announcement was made by the Ministry for Housing 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) that as from the 23rd December 2024 a new 
General Approval would come into force which removed the requirement to seek Secretary 
of State approval for larger schemes. 

1.4 However as consultation had already commenced for the proposed scheme at the date the 
general approval came into force a question was added to the consultation questionnaire on 
the 17th December 2024 to gain feedback from consultees to see if there was support for a 
larger scheme following the removal of restrictions on larger schemes. 

1.5 Due to this recommendation B has been added to this report to present members with an 
alternative larger scheme for consideration. 

1.6 The Housing Act 2004 grants Authorities the power to designate an area of Selective  
Licensing, for an area to be designated it must have at least one of the issues presented 
below. 

• low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area) and/or; 

• a significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour; 

• poor housing conditions; 

• high levels of migration; 

• high level of deprivation; 

• high levels of crime. 

1.7 The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in their guidance 
documents for Local Authorities states that “Selective licensing is not a tool that can be 
used in isolation” and that any Authority looking to introduce a wider housing strategy must 
also consider the following factors: 

• Homelessness 

• Empty homes 

• Regeneration 

• Anti-social behaviour associated with privately renting tenants 

1.8 Once an area is designated for Selective Licensing all residential properties let by a private 
landlord in the area need to be licenced. Local Authorities are able to charge a fee for a 

~ Page 5 ~



 

licence to cover the cost of administering the scheme and any designation may last for up 
to 5 years. 

1.9 The licences issued contain conditions which the licence holder must adhere to during the 
term of the scheme. Those that fail would be committing an offence and could be subject to 
late application fees, fines or legal action being taken against them. 

2. Why Continue Selective Licensing 

2.1 The Selective Licensing team and wider Private Sector Housing team have made 
progress in conjunction with other internal departments to address the areas noted 
within the MHCLG guidance document below.  

• Homelessness – The team have been working closely with the Housing Options 
team to try and salvage tenancies or dealing with landlord harassment where issues 
occur to prevent homelessness, along with engaging with property owners to try and 
secure leased properties to use as temporary accommodation and providing 
supporting evidence for housing applications to increase housing application bandings 
when properties are not suitable.  

• Empty homes - The Council adopted a new empty homes strategy in March 2023, 
which created a cross departmental empty homes working group consisting of 
officers from Private Sector Housing, Revenues and Planning to use existing resource 
to tackle empty homes within the Borough. This approach has seen a 40% reduction 
in empty homes within the Borough. 

• Regeneration - The team have also delivered in excess of £1.5 Million of energy 
efficiency grant funding to private properties across the Borough to aid the 
regeneration of the housing stock generally across the whole Borough and continue 
to engage with the Midlands Net Zero Energy Hub to secure further funding. The 
private sector housing team have also been working with the economic regeneration 
team to make contact with mixed use buildings to engage with landlords to access 
shop front grants to improve the visual appearance of Blaby Road, South Wigston.  

• Anti-social behaviour associated with privately renting tenants – Since the 
Selective Licensing scheme has been in place the Council in conjunction with the 
Police have undertaken two closure orders to prevent addresses perpetuating Anti-
Social behaviour within the South Wigston ward. 

2.2 Property licensing is an effective tool to ensure compliance within the private rented 
sector as it removes the pressure from the tenant to raise concerns about the 
property and also provides landlord with clear guidance on what is expected from 
them and also provides them with a support network should they have issues or 
concerns in relation to their property. 

2.3 The council has considered alternatives to Selective Licensing to address the issues. 
Comments on these approaches can be found below. 

Alternative Solutions Comments 

Local landlord accreditation scheme Introducing a local voluntary 
accreditation scheme would be 
significantly resource intensive and as a 
voluntary programme, likely to only 
engage proactive landlords as opposed 
to landlords who may need additional 
support or training or criminal landlords. 

~ Page 6 ~



 

This is why landlords of existing 
accreditation schemes would benefit 
from a discount to reward them for their 
proactive attitude 

Management and training support to 
private landlords 

Again this approach would be resource 
intensive and impractical to deliver 
without a licensing scheme, however 
should a further scheme be designated, 
dedicated training events will be 
explored to upskill landlords within the 
Borough. 

Introduction of private sector leasing 
scheme 

The Council have introduced a private 
sector leasing scheme, this has been 
developed by the empty homes working 
group in conjunction with the Housing 
Options department, however this 
scheme is typically engaged with empty 
properties as leasing properties that are 
currently occupied will increase the 
levels of homelessness not reduce it, 
which is the purpose of the leasing 
scheme. 

Targeted use of Special Interim 
Management Orders and Empty 
Dwelling Management Orders 

The use of management orders is very 
resource intensive, although the Council 
is currently using management orders as 
part of their escalated enforcement 
procedure for the current scheme, 
identifying these properties without the 
resource granted by the scheme would 
be extremely challenging. 

Reactive Approach The Council continues to respond to 
reactive complaints received from 
tenants across the Borough, however if 
the Council were to revert to this 
approach the capacity built up from the 
Selective Licensing scheme would be 
lost and the department would revert to 
having 1 full time equivalent officer to 
manage the private rented sector of 
approximately 5000 properties, whilst 
also maintaining a caseload of generic 
Environmental Health cases 

 

2.4 As illustrated above there are a range of powers available to the Council, but on their 
own they would be widely ineffective or reactive, whereas when built into the 
foundation of Selective Licensing it allows the Council to be more effective and 
achieve greater results across the private rented sector. 

3. Meeting the Test 

~ Page 7 ~



 

3.1 Having reviewed the guidance, legislation and available evidence into the possibility 
of proposing a further Selective Licensing scheme within the Borough, there is not 
sufficient evidence to warrant a Borough wide licensing scheme due to the varied 
nature of the Borough.  

3.2 There is sufficient evidence to support the introduction of a scheme within the South 
Wigston and parts of Wigston with specific areas outlined at point 4 and 5 of this 
report. 

3.3 A significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour 
Responses from the Community Safety Partnership survey of residents 2022/23 noted 
that 71% of the residents that responded where concerned about Crime, Anti-Social 
Behaviour or Community Safety in their area, with 81% of respondents from South 
Wigston answering Yes, this was a concern for them. 

With 80% of Wigston Residents stating that Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour had 
increased or stayed the same over the last 12 months, 85% of South Wigston and 
78% of Oadby residents with the same response. 

Along with these statistics only 16% of Oadby, 22% of South Wigston and 24% of 
Wigston residents were satisfied with public services dealing with Crime, Anti-Social 
Behaviour and Community Safety in their areas, with 41% of respondents in South 
Wigston reporting they had been victims of crime or anti-social behaviour in the 
Borough. 

3.4 Poor housing conditions 
Housing standards service requests are a statutory duty required to be investigated 
by Local Authorities. Below is a table outlining service requests received that relate to 
Housing divided by Ward between 1st April 2019 and 31st March 2024. 

 

 

As can be seen from the chart above a significant number of requests received relate 
to properties in South Wigston, which is part of the reasoning for the proposed future 
scheme including Blaby Road to allow for further proactive work to continue in the 
area.  There are also a high number of service requests received from Wigston Fields. 

An outlier in relation to these figures is Oadby St Peters with the second highest 
number of requests, which whilst not being considered within this proposal, will 
continue to be monitored, to see if this trend continues. 

3.5 High levels of crime 

~ Page 8 ~



 

Crime is not typically reported at a ward level, as Leicestershire Police report crime 
based on their beat team divisions which for the Borough are South Wigston, Wigston 
and Oadby, below are reported levels between April 2023 and March 2024 compared 
to population levels, along with a graph from the Police website showing the last 
three years crime levels for the areas 
 

 South Wigston – Within the period from April 2023 to March 2024 there 
were 922 crimes recorded, with the most recent elector numbers for the ward 
noted as 6067, meaning 1 in 6 residents have been victims of crime. 
 

 Wigston – Within the period from April 2023 to March 2024 there were 1856 
recorded crimes with the most recent elector numbers for the Wigston wards 
totalling 20,259, meaning 1 in 10 residents have been victims of crime. 

 
 Oadby – Within the period from April 2023 to March 2024 there were 1410 

recorded crimes with the most recent elector numbers for the Oadby wards 
totalling 17,360, meaning 1 in 12 residents have been victims of crime. 

 
3.6 High levels of deprivation 

Oadby and Wigston ranks 249 out of 317 on the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 
2019 local authority rank. Oadby has less areas categorised as the most deprived 
areas nationally in comparison to Wigston. Wigston has five Lower layer Super 
Output Areas (LSOAs) that are in the 30% most deprived areas nationally. The mean 
deprivation rating for England is 21.67 and the information below outlines the 
comparison between national levels and the levels within the potential designation 
along with a local within Borough comparison. 

 South Wigston – Is the most deprived ward within the Borough with an 
average rating of 21.94 which is above the national average, however when 
the Fairfield estate is removed as proposed within any new designation this 
increases to 27.50 demonstrating the increased levels of deprivation within 
the vicinity of Blaby Road, with the highest score registered in the area being 
north of Blaby Road with a score of 31.48. 
 

 Wigston Fields – Closely follows South Wigston with an average deprivation 
score of 21.92 across the four LSOAs within the ward, all of which are 
proposed to be included in any future potential designation, with the highest 
score registered at 32.89 in the centre of the ward in the vicinity of Rolleston 
Road. 

 
 Wigston All Saints – Has an average score of 14.76, however there is a 

significant range within the All Saints ward as illustrated by the map below 
with the lowest score in the ward being 5.93 and the highest being 31.27 
located in the vicinity of Moat Street, part of this area is proposed to be 
included within both recommendations. 

 
 Oadby Uplands – In contrast the average score for the Uplands ward is 7.11 

with the highest score being 8.59 in the vicinity of Uplands Road. Oadby 
Uplands is not proposed to be included as part of the scheme but has been 
used as a point of comparison. 

 
Below is a map taken from the department for Health and Social Care’s SHAPE atlas 
tool which maps deprivation levels across England, with areas of higher deprivation 
being illustrated in darker shades of purple. 

~ Page 9 ~



 

 

 

4. Proposed Selective Licensing Scheme Area (Recommendation SLS-A) 

4.1 SLS-A presents the area initially consulted on prior to the change to the general 
approval and is compliant with the previous approval encompassing 16.4% of the 
total geographic area of the Borough and 19.3% of the total rental stock within the 
Borough, both of which were required to be below 20%. 

4.2 When designing SLS-A greater consideration has been given to trying to encompass 
the greatest areas of deprivation within the Borough as opposed to focusing on 
traditional ward boundaries, this is illustrated within the map below, with the areas 
outlined in red. 

~ Page 10 ~



 

 

4.3 SLS-A is estimated to equate to approximately 900 rented properties across the 
designated area. 

 
4.4 To ensure the scheme is effectively delivered the following officers would be required 

(descriptions of posts can be found at 8.9 of this report). 

 1x Senior Environmental Health Officer 
 1x Selective Licensing Officer 
 1x Community Warden 
 1x Selective Licensing Apprentice 

 
4.5 It is estimated that SLS-A would generate approximately £750,000 over the 5 year 

term of the scheme. 
 

5. Potential Larger Selective Licensing Scheme Area (Recommendation SLS-
B) 

5.1 With the new general approval which came into effect on the 23rd December 2024, it 
was decided that members should be presented with an option to consider a larger 
scheme and the consultation would be amended to gauge public opinion. 

5.2 SLS-B would still focus on the South Wigston and Wigston Fields wards but would 
also would encompass a greater percentage of the area with the restrictions of the 
previous general approval being withdrawn, allowing significantly more of Wigston to 
be included. 

5.3 Again when designing SLS-B greater consideration has been given to trying to 
encompass the greatest areas of deprivation within the Borough as opposed to 
focusing on traditional ward boundaries, this is illustrated within the map below, with 
the area outlined in Blue. 
 

~ Page 11 ~



 

 

5.4 SLS-B is estimated to equate to approximately 1600 rented properties across the 
designated area. 

5.5 Due to the size of the designation the proposed greater staffing resource would be 
required to effectively deliver the scheme, therefore the following officers would be 
required (descriptions of posts can be found at 8.9 of this report). 

 1x Senior Environmental Health Officer 
 1x Senior Selective Licensing Officer 
 2x Community Wardens 
 2x Selective Licensing Apprentices 

5.6 The introduction of a Senior Selective Licensing officer within this designation 
recognises the additional burden placed on this officer when supporting the Senior 
Environmental Health Officer in the management of the scheme and larger team. 

5.7 It is estimated that SLS-B would generate approximately £1,300,000.00 over the 5 
year term of the scheme. 

6. Public Consultation 

6.1 Public consultation commenced on the 25th November 2024 and will remain open 
until the 3rd February 2025. 

6.2 At the time of preparing this report 66 responses had been received from a variety of 
stakeholders. 

6.3 A consultation outcome report outlining the methods and level of engagement 
achieved by the consultation, noted as appendix 1 will be available once the 
consultations has closed. In addition Appendix 2 will provide a detailed breakdown of 
the consultation response and again will be available once the consultation has closed  

6.4 The responses received to date have been reviewed to during the consultation 
process to ensure comments are reflected within the scheme design. 

~ Page 12 ~



 

6.5 Three hybrid public consultation event were hosted at Brocks Hill and broadcast 
online through Microsoft Teams, these events were held on the 19th December 2024, 
10th January 2025 and 15th January 2025 and details of Question and Answer 
sessions are outlined in appendix 3. With 16 attendees attending in person across the 
events and 6 attendees online. 

6.6 The Council undertook a programme of hand delivered consultation request cards 
which were delivered to 6,650 households within Wigston and South Wigston. An 
example of the card delivered can be found at appendix 4. 

7. Legal Implications 

7.1 If a Selective Licensing Scheme is adopted by the Council, it will have the effect of 
mandatorily requiring all private rented properties within the designated area to be 
licenced with Oadby and Wigston Borough Council. The following points would come 
into effect on approval by Full Council. 

7.2 The Selective Licensing Scheme would be in operation for 5 years (i.e. 2025 - 2030). 

7.3 Licenses will be issued for a maximum of 5-years, a landlord issued an interim 1-year 
licence in accordance with the Policy will be able to renew their licence to an end of 
scheme licence. 

7.4 The Selective Licensing Scheme will need to be publicised for 3-months before 
coming into effect. 

7.5 The Council will accept applications during the publicised notification period, with the 
official Selective Licence being effective from the Commencement date of the 
Scheme. It is proposed that grace period operates for 6-months from the 
Commencement date of the Scheme to enable the submission of applications for a 
Selective Licence to be made, prior to enforcement action being taken. 

An indicative timetable is provided below. 

 February 2025 – May 2025 – Notification Period for approved scheme. 

 May 2025 – November 2025 – Grace period for applications, prior to enforcement. 

 November 2025 – May 2030 – Late application fee applies, inspections commenced 
and enforcement procedures enacted. 

7.6 The Council will have to formally notify all persons that have been advised of the 
Consultation on the Selective Licensing Scheme and the outcomes; including 
residents, landlords, letting Agents, Estate Agents and all other notified persons and 
organisations. 

7.7 The Council will notify and provide details of any approved designation to the local 
search provider for the Borough to ensure potential purchasers are notified of any 
scheme during the conveyancing process. 

7.8 The enforcement of the Selective Licence Scheme will cover the administration and 
inspection of the Scheme. Any issues encountered e.g. breach of licensing conditions 
will be dealt with under the Housing Act 2004 by issuing of Fixed Penalty Notices, 
enforcement under the Councils Civil Penalties Policy or Prosecution. 

8. Financial Implications  

~ Page 13 ~



 

8.1 The Selective Licensing Scheme will be cost neutral. It is proposed that as the money 
will come in at the beginning of the Scheme; the monies will be held in the Councils 
account as an earmarked reserve and drawn down over the life of the Scheme to 
support the Scheme. 
 

8.2 It is proposed the fee for a licence is for 5-years and will be in two parts due to the 
ruling of Hemming v Westminster 

Part 1 – The Application Fee (Funding the administration and processing of the 
application) 

Part 2 – Subsistence Fee (Funding the administration, management and enforcement 
of the wider scheme) 

The Part 2 payment will be required on a successful application for a Selective 
Licence under the Scheme and prior to an inspection being undertaken of the 
property and a full licence being issued. 

8.3 The proposed fee structure is outlined in the table below and will be fixed for the 
duration of the scheme. This is based on benchmarking against other Authorities and 
a review of our current fee structure. 

 

Fee Type Application Fee Subsistence 
Fee 

Total 

Standard Fee £450.00 £400.00 £850.00 

Accredited Fee £350.00 £400.00 £750.00 

Previous Applicant Discount 
(See paragraph 8.5) 

£350.00 £300.00 £650.00 

Multi Property Discount 
(applies after one standard 
application is completed) 

£400.00 £400.00 £800.00 

Accredited and Multi Fee £300.00 £400.00 £700.00 

Identified/Late Fee £750.00 £400.00 £1150.00 

1 Year Licence (Following 
Inspection) 

As per 
appropriate fee 
above 

£800.00 Appropriate 
Application Fee+ 
£800.00 

Variation to Application £30.00 N/A £30.00 

Temporary Exemption £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

Refunds See Paragraph 8.6 

 

8.4 Discounts can be combined in cases where applicants qualify for multiple discounts. 

8.5 Following consultation and Q and A sessions at consultation events, there was 
repeated calls for a discount for current licence holders to recognise their 

~ Page 14 ~



 

engagement and compliance with the existing licensing scheme. It is therefore 
proposed that applicants that can evidence engagement with the previous licensing 
scheme would garner a £200.00 discount with £100.00 being discounted from the 
application fee and £100.00 being discounted from subsistence fee. 

8.6 Refunds will be provided on a discretionary basis with the approval of the Selective 
Licensing Team Leader or subsequent post. Any refunds will be assessed on an 
application by application basis and determined on the amount of work undertaken 
on the application at the point of the refund request being received. 

8.7 Effective staffing is essential to ensure effective scheme delivery and the level of 
staffing will be dictated by the size of any scheme designated the indicative staffing 
levels for both recommendations are outlined below 

8.8 Potential staffing structures are outlined within paragraphs 4 and 5 and are scheme 
specific, hence the inclusion of recommendation C to approve a full review of the 
existing staffing structure prior to the commencement of any approved designation. 

8.9 Officers required for effective delivery are proposed in the following generic capacities 
to provide an indicative understanding of resource required and will be subject to a 
full business case being submitted to and approved by SLT,. 

 Senior Environmental Health Officer (Title to be confirmed) – With direct 
responsibility for the strategic, budgetary and operational aspects of the 
scheme, currently this role is undertaken by the Selective Licensing Team 
Leader. 
 

 Selective Licensing Officer – This role acts as a first point of contact for the 
current scheme and also undertakes proactive and reactive inspections of 
properties 
 

 Community Warden – This would be a new role created to support the wider 
operational aspects of the scheme with the purpose of being a visible 
presence and proactively address issues such as littering, dog fouling and 
anti-social behaviour to provide re-assurance to residents. 

 
 Selective Licensing Apprentice – This would be a newly created role and 

would be a graded post, which would be upgraded to a Selective Licensing 
Officer upon completion of the Housing Specific Regulatory Compliance 
Apprenticeship. This post will provide essential capacity and resilience with the 
proposed procedural changes outlined in the renters rights’ bill and delivery of 
the scheme. 

9. Selective Licensing Enforcement Policy 

9.1 The Council has developed a Draft Selective Licensing and Enforcement Policy, noted 
as appendix 5 which sets out the Selective Licensing the Councils procedures and 
enforcement strategy will be used to support officers to ensure that a fair and 
equitable approach regarding enforcement is followed, subject to approval of 
recommendation E. 

10. Aims and Reporting Progress 

10.1 Improve the standard of private rented properties within the designated 
area – This would be monitored by reporting on quarterly housing standards 
complaints received in the impacted wards, allowing for monitoring to be undertaken 

~ Page 15 ~



 

across the designation period to provide a comprehensive data set in relation to 
housing standards 

10.2 Increase how safe residents feel in their area - This would be monitored using 
the annual survey undertaken by the Oadby and Wigston Borough Council, 
Community Safety Partnership and monitored across the period of any designation. 

10.3 Reduce homelessness within the designated area – This would be monitored in 
conjunction with the Housing Options department to monitor the number of tenants 
subject to notices to quit within the designated area within the aim of providing 
support guidance and referrals in the event of rent arrears or other issues to try and 
salvage at risk tenancies. 

11. Conclusion 

11.1 Approval of a further scheme would provide essential resources for the Council to 
undertake proactive advisory work, along with informal and formal enforcement 
interventions to improve the area designated within the scheme area. 

~ Page 16 ~



 

 

 

To follow 

~ Page 17 ~

Appendix 1



 

 

 

To follow 

~ Page 18 ~

Appendix 2



 

 

 

To follow 

~ Page 19 ~

Appendix 3



www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/selectivelicensing

selective.licensing@oadby-wigston.gov.uk

0116 288 8961 

We want to
hear from you!
About Selective Licensing of
rented properties in Wigston
and South Wigston

~
 P

age 20 ~

A
ppendix 4



Learn more about Selective Licensing

Selective Licensing requires landlords to apply for a licence to allow them to rent their
property. We are currently considering introducing this in your area, and would
welcome your comments.

You can find the consultation survey, more detailed information about Selective
Licensing and the times and dates of upcoming engagement sessions on our webpage,
which you can visit using the QR code below.

 If you would like a paper copy of the consultation, please contact our Customer
Services team and this will be posted to you.  

www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/selectivelicensing

Learn more and have your say:

selective.licensing@oadby-wigston.gov.uk

0116 288 8961 

www.oadby-wigston.gov.uk/selectivelicensing

selective.licensing@oadby-wigston.gov.uk

0116 288 8961 

~
 P

age 21 ~



 

 

  

Selective Licensing and 

Enforcement Policy 

2025 - 2023  

~ Page 22 ~

Appendix 5



 

1 
 

Contents 
1. Selective Licensing in Oadby and Wigston Borough ................................................................................. 2 

2. Licence Fees .............................................................................................................................................. 2 

3. Processing the Application ........................................................................................................................ 4 

4. Tests for Fitness etc. and Satisfactory Management Arrangements ........................................................ 4 

5. The Fit and Proper Test ............................................................................................................................. 5 

6. Consideration of ‘Persons Associated or Formerly Associated with the Proposed Licence Holder or 

Manager ............................................................................................................................................................. 8 

7. Issuing a Licence ........................................................................................................................................ 8 

8. Renewal Applications ................................................................................................................................ 9 

9. Application for a Revocation or Variation of a Licence ........................................................................... 10 

10. Licence Criteria.................................................................................................................................... 10 

11. Will Tacit Consent Apply ..................................................................................................................... 11 

12. Public Registers ................................................................................................................................... 12 

13. Appeals................................................................................................................................................ 12 

14. Selective Licensing Enforcement ........................................................................................................ 12 

Overall Enforcement Policy .......................................................................................................................... 13 

Service complaints ....................................................................................................................................... 14 

Principles of enforcement and enforcement decisions ............................................................................... 14 

Partnership working ..................................................................................................................................... 14 

Informal Action ............................................................................................................................................ 15 

Formal Action ............................................................................................................................................... 15 

Authorisation of Officers .............................................................................................................................. 15 

Delegation of Authority ............................................................................................................................... 15 

Licence Holder .............................................................................................................................................. 16 

Unlicensed Properties .................................................................................................................................. 16 

Failure to Comply with and Provide Information to Confirm Licence Condition Compliance ..................... 17 

Simple Cautions ........................................................................................................................................... 18 

Prosecution .................................................................................................................................................. 19 

Civil Penalties ............................................................................................................................................... 19 

Other Sanctions available to the Local Authority ........................................................................................ 19 

 

 

 

 

~ Page 23 ~



 

2 
 

1. Selective Licensing in Oadby and Wigston Borough 
 

Upon approval of a designation mist privately rented homes in the Designated area will be 

required to have a property licence. 

The Council has exercised its powers to charge under Section 87(3) and (7) of the Housing Act 

2004 and does so taking into account the Provision of Services Regulations 2009. 

Under Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004, a house is required to be licensed if:  

• The whole of it is occupied under a single non-exempt tenancy or licence; or  

• The whole of it is occupied under two or more non-exempt tenancies or licences in respect of 

different separate dwellings within the building. 

In the event that a building has multiple dwellings contained within it the Council will require a 

separate application and fee for each of the dwellings within the building. The Council will 

consider each application and will take the following factors into account before deciding to issue 

a multi property licence or not: 

• Each of the dwellings are separate dwellings (usually self-contained flat,) which are contiguous 

to one another in the same building;  

• Each of the dwellings are occupied under non-exempt tenancies; and  

• Each of the dwellings within the same building are within common ownership and management 

control. 

Where the Council is satisfied that individual property licences should be granted, it will give 

notice of this to the applicant and every relevant person. There is a right to appeal this decision to 

the First Tier Tribunal (Residential Property Chamber), notwithstanding the grant of these 

licences. 

In cases of a registered `not for profit` charity or an individual housing provider, such as a private 

landlord or organisation who is assisting the Council by offering permanent accommodation to 

meet our homelessness duties applications will be accepted, for the particular property being 

provided without a fee being payable. An assessment of the organisation will then be carried out 

and if appropriate the Council will determine the application and issue a licence without requiring 

any fee. 

Each case will be considered on its merits based on the type of individual or organisation 

submitting the application and the removal of the fee requirement will only be applied to the 

licence for the house being provided for homelessness purposes. 

2. Licence Fees 
 

Section 87 of the Housing Act 2004 permits the Council to require any application for a licence under Part 3 

to be accompanied by a licence fee and that this fee may properly cover all costs incurred by the Council in 

carrying out its functions. 

~ Page 24 ~



 

3 
 

In developing its fee structure the Council has had regard to the European Court of Justice ruling in R 

(Hemming) V Westminster City Council (Case C-316/15) and the High Court decision in R (Gaskin) v LB 

Richmond Upon Thames (2018) EWHC 1996 (Admin) which held that the EU’s Provision of Services 

Directive, which is enshrined in UK law as the Provision of Services Regulations 2009 should apply to 

property licensing fees and the processes involved in implementing and delivering such schemes. 

The Services Directive, in particular should be interpreted as precluding charging in advance for costs other 

than those directly related to the authorisation process of the scheme. In other words, the Council is not 

permitted to demand fees in advance for anything other than the costs of administering the application for 

a licence even if it makes it clear that unsuccessful applicants are provided with a refund of the remaining 

part of the fee. The Council may legitimately recover its wider costs, over and above those relating to the 

administration of applications, but this should be at the point at which the Council has determined that a 

licence is to be granted. 

The judgements in Hemming and Gaskin has therefore had the effect that the fee for a Selective Licence 

under Part 3 of the 2004 Act must be levied in two separate parts. The Council is not allowed to demand 

fees in the Stage 1 process for anything other than the costs of administering and processing the 

application for a licence. Furthermore this element of the fee is non-refundable should the application be 

unsuccessful. In the case of Stage 2 payments these can only be requested if the initial application is 

successful and will be charged to cover the costs of running and enforcing the scheme. As such the Council, 

when setting its fees, has adopted the two stage approach. 

 

Fee Type Application Fee Subsistence 
Fee 

Total 

Standard Fee £450.00 £400.00 £850.00 

Accredited Fee £350.00 £400.00 £750.00 

Previous Applicant Discount  £350.00 £300.00 £650.00 

Multi Property Discount 
(applies after one standard 
application is completed) 

£400.00 £400.00 £800.00 

Accredited and Multi Fee £300.00 £400.00 £700.00 

Identified/Late Fee £750.00 £400.00 £1150.00 

1 Year Licence (Following 
Inspection) 

As per 
appropriate fee 
above 

£800.00 Appropriate 
Application Fee+ 
£800.00 

Variation to Application £30.00 N/A £30.00 

Temporary Exemption £0.00 £0.00 £0.00 

 

Under Section 90 (6) of the Housing Act 2004 the Council has the power to impose a restriction / obligation 

on a particular person (with their consent). In accordance with this power the Council will require the 

~ Page 25 ~



 

4 
 

licence holders consent to pay the Stage 2 fee in advance of the licence being issued, this will be required 

as part of the application process. 

In addition, the Council will attach a condition to all licences requiring this obligation to be met i.e. to pay 

the Stage 2 fee. This approach is consistent with that set out in the Hemming case. 

Failure to make the Stage 2 payment will result in the Council taking action through, either the revocation 

or refusal of the licence or by enforcing the non-compliance of the licence condition associated with the 

making of the Stage 2 payment. 

3. Processing the Application 
 

Under the Housing Act 2004 the Council can either grant or refuse a licence. In determining whether to 

grant or refuse a licence the Council must satisfy itself of the following: 

• That the proposed licence and manager of the property  

• That there are satisfactory management arrangements in place or that such arrangements can be put 

in place by the imposition of conditions in the licence. 

 

4. Tests for Fitness etc. and Satisfactory Management Arrangements 
 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council must be satisfied that “the proposed management arrangements  

are satisfactory” before granting a licence. Those arrangements include (but are not limited to)  

consideration of whether: 

 

• the person(s) proposed to be involved in the management of the premises has/have a sufficient level 

of competence to be involved;  

• the person(s) proposed to be involved with the management of the premises is/are actually involved in 

the management;  

• the person(s) is/are ‘fit and proper’ (which is discussed above); and  

• the proposed management structures and funding arrangements are suitable. 

 

If there are concerns about the competencies and structures in place to manage the premises then 

conditions can be imposed on the licence to ensure that the necessary arrangements are in place. 

However, if such conditions are not possible or practical to impose then it may be necessary to refuse to 

grant a licence. 

 

It is for a Council to determine whether a person has sufficient competence to be involved in the  

management of a premise and, of course, the level of competence required will in some measure be  

determined by the complexity of the management challenges posed. The Council will, therefore, be  

looking at the applicant’s experience and track record of managing residential premises and, in  

particular where he/she is the existing manager, the premises to which the application relates. In  

most cases landlords who belong to a recognised trade association or are members of an  

accreditation scheme will be regarded as having the necessary competence to be involved in the  

management of the premises because, at such organisations can be called upon for advice and  

assistance where necessary. 

 

~ Page 26 ~



 

5 
 

The management structures must be such that the manager is able to comply with any licence conditions 

and deal with the day to day operational management issues that arise as well as being able to deal with 

longer term management issues. In considering whether the structures are appropriate the Council may 

take account of the following: 

 

• evidence as to whether the systems in place are sufficient to enable the manager to comply with any 

condition of a licence or if such systems can be put in place through a condition on the licence to 

ensure compliance; 

• evidence of the systems for dealing with: 

o emergency repairs and other issues;  

o routine repairs and maintenance to the premises and its curtilage; 

o cyclical maintenance; o management and the provision of services (if any) to the building and 

its curtilage;  

o management of tenancies or occupants; 

o management of the behaviour of tenants, occupants and their visitors to the premises; and  

o neighbourhood issues (including disputes) 

• evidence of structures for engagement with the local authority, police and other agencies, where 

appropriate 

 

In order to be able to demonstrate much of the above evidence it is likely that the manager will need to 

operate within a reasonable proximity to the premises, so that he/she can attend to matters promptly and 

retain an overview on the condition of the premises and the management of the tenancies. 

 

The Council must also be satisfied that the financial arrangements relating to the premises are suitable. In 

that regard the manager must be sufficiently funded or have access to funding to carry out his obligations 

under the licence and his/her general management functions. 

 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council can vary or revoke a licence at any time during the licence period if 

there is sufficient evidence to support these decisions. Unannounced visits of licensed properties will 

therefore be undertaken during the licence period to check for compliance with the licensing and 

management regimes which apply. This is consistent with the powers provided under Section 239 of the 

Housing Act 2004. 

 

Breach of any such legislation is a strict offence for which further action will be taken. The Housing, Health 

and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) also applies to rented properties and (if appropriate) remedial works can 

be enforced via this legal mechanism separately to the powers provided under the licensing scheme 

 

5. The Fit and Proper Test 
 

In deciding to grant a licence Oadby and Wigston Borough Council must be satisfied that the  

proposed licence holder “is a fit and proper person to be the licence holder” and that “the proposed  

manager of the house is a fit and proper person to be the manager of the house”. 

 

This requirement is to ensure that those responsible for operating the licence and managing the  

premises are of sufficient integrity and good character to be involved in the management of the  

particular residential premises to which the application relates and as such they do not pose a risk to  

~ Page 27 ~



 

6 
 

the health, safety or welfare of persons occupying and visiting the premises. 

 

When considering whether a person is ‘fit and proper’ Oadby and Wigston Borough Council will have  

regard to any misdemeanours (wrong doings) of the relevant person concerned. This is evidence that  

the person has: 

 

• committed any offence involving fraud or other dishonesty, violence or drugs and certain types of 

sexual offences;  

• practised unlawful discrimination on the grounds of sex, colour, race, ethnic or national origins or 

disability, in connection with the carrying out of business;  

• contravened any provision of housing or landlord and tenant law; or  

• acted otherwise than in accordance with an approved code of practice. 

 

The above list is not exhaustive and Oadby and Wigston Borough Council can and will consider  

whether a relevant person has committed other relevant misdemeanours, for example, discrimination 

under the Equality Act 2010. A relevant person will not be deemed unfit, simply because of poor  

management, although this is highly relevant to determining any question of suitability or competence. 

 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council do not adopt a blanket policy on its consideration of factors under a 

fit and proper person test. Each case will be considered on its own merits and regard will be had to 

information provided / omitted from an application form; historical information already held by Oadby and 

Wigston Borough Council relating to the premises and / or any relevant person connected with the licence 

application. 

 

In an application for a licence the applicant must provide details of the following in relation to  

him/herself and the proposed manager (if the applicant is not to be the licence holder): 

 

• unspent convictions;  

• any findings of a court/tribunal that the person has practised unlawful discrimination; 

•  any judgement entered against that person in relation to a contravention of housing or landlord and 

tenant law (and, in so far it relates to the housing or landlord and tenant law, any contravention of any 

enactment relating to public or environmental health);  

• any control order made in respect of any House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) under his/her 

management or ownership (and also in respect of any former HMO he/she owned or managed);  

• any enforcement action in respect of any house or HMO under his/her management or ownership (and 

also any former HMO or house he/she owned or managed) under the housing health and safety rating 

system in Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 so far as that enforcement action related to a category one 

hazard;  

• details of any refusal to grant a licence, or details of the revocation of a licence granted for non-

compliance of a condition or conditions in respect of any house or HMO under his/her management or 

ownership (and also in relation to any former HMO or house he owned or managed); and  

• details of any interim or final management orders made by a Local Housing Authority in respect of any 

house or HMO under his management (and also in respect of any former HMO or house he owned or 

managed). 

 

~ Page 28 ~



 

7 
 

An applicant for a licence must disclose any misdemeanours which relate to themselves, the proposed 

manager and any other relevant person, if any. Oadby and Wigston Borough Council should therefore have 

sufficient information to decide a person’s fitness based on the application. 

 

If Oadby and Wigston Borough Council are not satisfied that it has sufficient information (being that 

supplied in connection with the application) to make a determination, it may require the applicant to 

provide further details and / or undertake their own further enquiries with other relevant Council 

departments and external bodies as it deems necessary, including for example Disclosure & Barring Service 

checks (DBS) and Trading Standards. The completion and signing of the Licence application form will be 

taken as an agreement to any such action. 

 

Checks will also be made internally with other Council departments such as Licensing, Planning, Building 

Control, Council Tax and Housing Benefit. 

 

Oadby and Wigston Borough Council are also able to request information on criminal convictions, and 

although this is not undertaken as a matter of routine a Police National Computer (PNC) check will be  

requested where there is sufficient evidence that this is necessary. A PNC check may also be 

requested for the purposes of officer safety during the course of the licensing application should this  

also be considered necessary. 

 

Such reasons for a PNC check may include that: 

 

• Oadby and Wigston Borough Council have evidence of a history of complaints or problems with the 

landlord (which in themselves might not amount to ‘evidence’ of unfitness to meet the test), but 

further investigation may be required;  

• the applicant has been evasive or untruthful in their application for a licence;  

• the applicant, or proposed manager, is unknown to Oadby and Wigston Borough Council and has not 

demonstrated any history or competence of managing HMOs or other private rented properties;  

• Oadby and Wigston Borough Council has reasonable grounds to suspect that the applicant, or the 

proposed manager, has committed an offence which is relevant to the determination of any question 

of his/her fitness; or  

• the premises provides accommodation mainly to vulnerable persons. 

 

In deciding whether a misdemeanour (including a criminal offence) is relevant to the determination of a 

person’s fitness Oadby and Wigston Borough Council will consider the following factors: 

 

• the relevance of the misdemeanour(s) in relation to the person’s character and integrity to manage 

residential premises and in particular the type of premises to which the licence relates;  

• the seriousness of the misdemeanour(s) in terms of impact, or potential impact, upon the residents 

and the wider community, including if more than misdemeanour has been carried out the cumulative 

impact;  

• the length of time since any misdemeanour; and  

• any mitigating circumstances. 

 

~ Page 29 ~



 

8 
 

6. Consideration of ‘Persons Associated or Formerly Associated with 

the Proposed Licence Holder or Manager 
 

If there is evidence that a person associated, or formally associated, with the person proposed to be the 

licence holder or manager of the property, has committed any misdemeanours, that evidence may be 

taken into account in determining the proposed licence holder’s or manager’s fitness (even if that person 

has himself or herself an unblemished record). 

The purpose of this requirement is to ensure that only fit and proper persons hold licences or are in  

any way involved in the management of licensed properties. It would not be appropriate for a licence  

to be granted to someone, or for someone to be the manager of a property, if that person was  

merely acting as a ‘front’ for someone else who, if he or she were not unfit, would be entitled to be  

the manager or licence holder. 

 

An example might be that of a husband and wife, where the husband is the landlord (or indeed both  

he and his partner are joint landlords), but only the wife has applied for the licence. If there is  

evidence that the husband has committed misdemeanours and those misdemeanours are relevant to  

the wife’s management of the property or licence then the Council may refuse to grant her a licence. 

 

Likewise if a landlord with an unsatisfactory record nominated a ”manager” who had a clean record,  

but had acted for him whilst the misdemeanours were committed, Oadby and Wigston Borough  

Council may consider the managing agent by association to be unfit too. 

 

7. Issuing a Licence 
 

All properties subject to an annual property licence will be inspected prior to the issuing of a draft licence 

to ensure that the property meets the required standards and the necessary and appropriate management 

arrangements are in place. 

Where the licence holder and manager have satisfied the requirements for a longer licence the licence will 

be issued after an initial inspection being completed. All properties will however remain subject to further 

inspections during the lifetime of the licence to check compliance with licence conditions, management 

responsibilities and minimum standards. In certain cases the Oadby and Wigston Borough Council may 

decide to carry out such inspections without prior notice being given to the owner, licence holder and /or 

manager. 

Where the inspection has been pre-arranged then all applicants will be required to provide access to all 

rooms in the house at a suitably arranged appointment. 

All contact with the licence holder and relevant person(s) will be made using the contact information 

provided by the applicant on the original application. Accordingly, it is the licence holder’s responsibility to 

ensure that all contact details are up to date and you must notify the Selective Licensing Team of any 

change in details. The Selective Licensing Team will not be held responsible for any delay in communication 

if it is as a result of any contact information changing. 

A draft licence with conditions will be issued based on the findings from this inspection. The draft licence 

(known as an Intention Notice) will be emailed to all relevant persons and other interested parties for 

consultation. 

~ Page 30 ~



 

9 
 

The relevant persons will have an opportunity to make any representations, which will be considered. 

When this process is complete a full licence with the conditions (known as the Decision Notice) will be 

issued. Again, copies will be sent to all interested parties. 

If the licence holder is still dissatisfied with the conditions of the licence, they will have an opportunity to 

appeal to the First-tier Property Tribunal. The details of how this appeal can be made will be provided with 

the Licence. 

All properties will be inspected at least once during the period of the licence to check conditions have been 

complied with. Failing to comply with any conditions on a licence is an offence under Section 95(2) of the 

Housing Act 2004 and, if found guilty the licence holder could face a prosecution or be issued with a Civil 

Penalty of up to £30,000. 

In cases where the licence is being issued to or on behalf of a new landlord who has never licensed a 

property before the first licence will run for one (1) year, and the licence must be renewed before it 

expires. After the first year, the opportunity will be provided to apply for a longer licence, provided all the 

relevant criteria is met 

The Council considers this approach is justified in furtherance of the overriding public interest of improving 

the standard of rented properties and their management. 

The Licensing and Management of Houses in Multiple Occupation and Other Houses (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2012 set out amendments to “renewal applications”, 

which reduces the burden on landlords applying for the renewal of a licence. 

8. Renewal Applications 
 

In the case of renewal applications the applicant must:  

• supply with the application, completed and signed declarations in the form specified in paragraph 4 of 

Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 2004;  

• supply in addition a completed and signed declaration in the form specified in paragraph 5 of that 

Schedule; and  

• in either case, sign the application. 

The form of declaration mentioned above will be available for applicants to sign as part of any renewal 

application. 

The regulations define a “renewal application” as “an application for a licence under section 87 of the Act 

where, at the time the application is made a licence of the kind applied for is already held by the applicant 

and has effect in respect of the HMO or house 

The effect of this part of the Regulations is that in order for the Council to treat any application as a 

“renewal” the application must be made during the active period of the current licence. If a renewal 

application is received on or after expiry of the current licence then the application will be treated as a new 

application and the appropriate fees above will apply. 

 

~ Page 31 ~



 

10 
 

9. Application for a Revocation or Variation of a Licence 
 

If circumstances regarding the property change during the licence period, for example a change in the 

number of letting units, the licence holder must notify the Selective Licensing Team directly so the licence 

can be re-assessed and varied if the premise is considered suitable to accommodate the variation request. 

Similarly, if the premises are no longer going to be occupied as a rented property or the licence holder 

changes, then the licence holder must make an application for the licence to be revoked. Any remaining 

period of the licence will be forfeited and there will be no right to a refund of the original payment. 

10. Licence Criteria 
 

One Year Licence Application Criteria - Annual licences are normally issued to new landlords where they 

have recently acquired or converted their property into a licensable property. This licence will be issued for 

a probationary period of 12 months and will be subject to the inspections process described earlier. 

Upon renewal the landlord/licence holder will be able to apply for a longer licence and, subject to meeting 

the relevant criteria, may be issued with a 5 year or “end of scheme” licence. In cases where the 

landlord/licence holder is not able to meet the qualifying criteria an annual licence will be issued as a 

renewal. 

It is important that a renewal application is submitted before expiry of the current licence otherwise it may 

be determined that this is a new application and additional information will be required. A different fee 

may also apply to reflect the increased time involved in processing the application. 

Annual licences will automatically be issued to those landlords who are found to be operating an 

unlicensed property through proactive visits carried out by the Council. In cases such as these it is likely 

that the landlord may also be subject to a formal investigation by the Council – given that they have been 

found to be operating an unlicensed property. This may affect their eligibility as licence holder or manager 

so they will be required to nominate an alternative competent person to be licence holder/ manager. 

Upon renewal the landlord/licence holder will be able to apply for a longer licence and, subject to meeting 

the relevant criteria, may be issued with a 5 year or “end of scheme” licence. In cases where the 

landlord/licence holder is not able to meet the qualifying criteria an annual licence will be issued as a 

renewal. 

In all cases the applicant must: 

 • Complete a valid application within 12 weeks of the property being licensable; and  

• Comply with all licence conditions before the licence is due for renewal. 

Five Year / End of Scheme Licence Application Criteria - All applicants that meet the criteria set out below 

will be eligible for a ‘five-year’ licence (granted for 5 calendar years or up to the expiry date of the 

operating scheme). The criteria for such a license is as follows:  

• Valid renewal application completed promptly before or within 2 weeks of being sent the first renewal 

reminder;  

• In the case of new applications , a complete application form;  

• Fee paid;  

~ Page 32 ~



 

11 
 

• Declaration signed; and  

• Five-year licence self-certification forms signed by the licence holder and (if applicable) managing agent 

All parties involved in the licensing and management of the property must also have a good history with 

the Council. When determining the compliance with this element of the criteria the Council will take the 

following into account: 

• All licence applications made on time;  

• No outstanding licence conditions;  

• No recent complaints about the property we have taken action to resolve 

• All certificates provided up to date and satisfactory 

• No issues with other departments within the council i.e. planning/environmental health; 

• Have suitable maintenance arrangements in place with suitably qualified and competent tradespeople 

for the upkeep of the property; and  

• Adhere to the principles set out in the Private Rented Sector Code of Practice. 

Managing Agents (with sole or joint management responsibility) must meet the following additional 

criteria: 

• 50% or more of the company’s employees are suitably qualified in residential property management;  

• All employees carry out regular continued professional development (CPD); and  

• The company is registered with a recognised professional association. 

Should any issues arise or new information be discovered after the licence is issued, Oadby and Wigston 

Borough Council reserves the right to revoke the licence. If any relevant person is found to have provided 

false or misleading information or made a false declaration, we may take enforcement action against them 

separately. 

It is the responsibility of the proposed licence holder and manager(s) to meet all of the eligibility  

criteria for the licence and provide all necessary evidence when requested. If all requested  

documentation is not provided in time, the Council will automatically assess the application based on 

the evidence we hold and issue a licence accordingly, which will generally be an annual licence. 

 

11. Will Tacit Consent Apply 
 

In deciding whether tacit consent applies the Council has taken into consideration the recent High Court 

decision in the case of R(Gaskin) v Richmond LBC [2018] EWHC 1996 (Admin). 

~ Page 33 ~



 

12 
 

The Gaskin case says that the Provision of Services Directive applies to licensing schemes in full and that 

regulators should set out how long it will take to carry out a licensing approval process and if they do not 

meet that timeline then approval (tacit consent) should happen automatically. 

Upon receiving a valid application, the Council will aim to provide a decision as soon as is reasonably 

practicable, however each case will require different processes to be completed, for example if an 

inspection of the property is necessary then the Council will be required to complete this before issuing 

you with a decision. This could therefore extend the time it takes to process your application.  

It is therefore the Council’s aim to process all valid applications and provide the relevant persons with a 

decision within 12 weeks of receipt. This will require the full co-operation of the applicant with the 

Council’s requirements for determining a licence application. 

If a decision about a licence application has not been received after this period, then tacit approval may 

apply but the proposed licence holder should not assume they will automatically have been granted a 

licence. 

As mentioned the target completion period for issuing a decision and a licence is subject to many factors 

and as such applicants should check with the Council on the status of their application. 

By the Council setting out and displaying publicly their licensing processing time, the Council considers this 

will instil confidence in local landlords and help to keep them informed about the process. 

12. Public Registers 
 

A register of property Licences is available online and details of this can be accessed directly from the 

Council's website. 

 

13. Appeals 
 

If an application for a property Licence is refused, there is a right to appeal this decision within 28 days 

to the First-tier Tribunal (Property Chamber - Residential Property). The details of this will be provided  

with the Decision Notice. 

 

14. Selective Licensing Enforcement 
 

Selective Licensing is a regulatory tool under Part 3 of the Housing Act 2004 which provides a discretionary 

power for Local Authorities to introduce selective landlord licensing of privately rented homes within a 

designated area. This is based on specific indicators of low housing demand, problems with anti-social 

behaviour, and concerns relating to one or more of the following - levels of crime, deprivation, migration 

and housing conditions. 

Selective Licensing contributes to confidence in the private rented sector, and encourages landlords to 

increase accountability for the management of their property and tenants. Generally, good responsible 

landlords will benefit from the additional support with unscrupulous landlords finding it a less appealing 

proposition. 

~ Page 34 ~



 

13 
 

This policy sets out the broad principles and processes which Officers will follow within the Selective 

Licensing Scheme when delivering landlord licensing in line with the requirements of The Housing Act 2004, 

and other appropriate housing legislation to ensure the approach is fair and consistent and that it will 

stand up to scrutiny. 

This enforcement policy helps to promote efficient and effective approaches to regulatory inspection and 

enforcement of licensing schemes, which improve regulatory outcomes without imposing unnecessary 

burdens. 

Enforcement in the context of this policy is not limited to formal enforcement action such as serving 

notices or prosecution, but includes, the inspection of premises to check for compliance with the scheme 

and relevant legislation and the provision of advice, support and guidance. It sets out what owners, 

landlords, their agents and tenants of private sector properties can expect from Oadby and Wigston 

Borough Council (OWBC) and the types of enforcement action that can be taken and considered 

Overall Enforcement Policy 

The Selective Licensing Team will endeavour to work with landlords to provide support and guidance to 

improve housing standards and practices within the private rented sector.  

Any enforcement action considered will be based on risk and will also have full regard to any statutory 

duty. Assessment of risk will be based on current legislation and specific guidance. 

In response to the enforcement concordat the Selective Licensing Team consider the following principles as 

the basis for undertaking fair and balanced enforcement: 

Openness  

• We will provide information to the public in plain language and if possible, avoid any jargon.  

• We are open and honest about how we do our work and in particular how we set our charges for 

enforcement.  

• We will always discuss general issues, specific failures or problems with anyone who we have enforced 

against.  

• We will try to ensure that people understand what is expected from them as well as making them aware 

of what they can expect from us. 

Helpfulness  

• Our staff will provide a courteous, efficient and helpful service.  

• All staff visiting properties will identify themselves by name and carry identification cards.  

• We will provide a contact point and telephone number for further dealings with Officers. 

Proportionality  

• Where possible, we will endeavour to minimise the costs of compliance with notices by ensuring the 

action we take is proportionate to the risks.  

• We will work with those required to take action so that they can meet their legal obligations without 

unnecessary expense.  

• Any sanctions we impose will take account of the seriousness of the offence. 

~ Page 35 ~



 

14 
 

Consistency and fairness  

• Officers will carry out their duties in a fair and consistent manner. To achieve this, we will develop and 

put in place procedures for the range of enforcement activities we carry out and ensure that Officers follow 

such procedures. 

Service complaints 

The Council has a corporate complaints system that enables the public to provide their views on our 

services. Details of the procedure can be found by visiting the Council’s website at www.oadby-

wigston.gov.uk. We will respond promptly to complaints received about the service. 

Principles of enforcement and enforcement decisions  

When discharging its duties in relation to the Selective Licensing Scheme, the Council will follow the 

principles of good enforcement and ensure that enforcement decisions are made and actions are taken in 

line with the provisions of the following legislation: 

• The Human Rights Act 1998  

• Regulators Compliance Code  

• Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996  

• Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000  

• The Crime and Disorder Act 1998  

• The Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014  

• The Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (as amended)  

• Civil penalties under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 

Partnership working 

We will engage in partnership working with other enforcement agencies where there is a shared 

enforcement role, or where it is in the public interest to share matters concerning non-compliance with 

enforcement actions taken. For example liaising with; the Police, the Fire and Rescue Service and other 

Council Services. 

Enforcement action will be based on risk and will have full regard to any statutory duty. Assessment of risk 

will be based on current legislation and specific guidance. The Council will seek to ensure it recovers 

appropriate costs from those landlords who are not being proactive in managing or letting properties 

Actions available broadly divide into two categories:  

• Informal action  

• Formal action 

Once we have established that action needs to be taken to resolve an issue, wherever possible an informal 

approach will be adopted having regard to either the Code or the Concordat. 

However, in certain cases there will be no alternative but to take formal action. 

Consideration will be given to: 

~ Page 36 ~



 

15 
 

The impact of interventions on economic progress; especially within small businesses and whether the 

benefit justifies the costs and poses the minimum burden to achieve the objective. Whether informal 

action may compromise the objective or whether there is a serious breach of legislation. For example, 

where an imminent risk to public health exists and removal of the risk is only guaranteed through a formal 

approach. 

Any relevant history in relation to the case, in particular, officers will consider whether any action has been 

taken in the past, the recipient’s response and the ability and willingness of the recipient to keep to agreed 

timetables of work. 

Whether an act or omission is serious enough to warrant formal action, or whilst there is no infringement 

of legislation, a positive benefit from informal action can be derived. 

The initial decision to take informal or formal action will be made by the enforcement officer. The decision 

will be agreed with the relevant line manager; however, overall responsibility for officers’ actions rests with 

the Head of Law and Democracy. 

Informal Action 

Informal action includes but is not exhaustive to:  

• Issuing verbal advice or instruction,  

• Working in partnership with key agencies,  

• The provision of advisory written information; examples are schedules of work in relation to required 

property repairs and informal warning/reminder letters to submit a licence application/information.  

• Guidance, information and advice to licence holders advising them of their responsibilities, including an 

online document library and landlord support pages. 

Formal Action  

If informal engagement fails, or it is not appropriate to adopt an informal approach as certain 

circumstances require immediate formal action, formal action will be taken. The Council will use both 

formal and informal actions when dealing with contraventions and the use of any measure will depend on 

the circumstances of each case. 

Authorisation of Officers 

By exercising its powers of delegation, the Council has authorised officers within the Selective Licensing 

Team to carry out enforcement action. Only officers who the Council have determined as competent will 

be authorised to take enforcement action. Any enforcement action will be initiated by suitably qualified 

and experienced enforcement officers. 

Officers will have sufficient training and understanding of this enforcement policy and their area of work to 

ensure a consistent approach to their duties. We undertake to monitor officers’ actions to ensure they are 

always in accordance with our policies. 

All officers will carry identification and an authorisation. They are required to show these if asked. 

Delegation of Authority 

The Head of Law and Democracy has delegated authority under this policy to authorise appropriately 

qualified Enforcement Officers. 

~ Page 37 ~



 

16 
 

Licence Holder 

Licence holders must ensure their properties are well managed, safe and comply with all of the licence 

conditions attached to the Selective Licence. 

If the Council receive concerns about a particular property, licence holder, manager or a breach of the 

licence conditions they will investigate to determine the best course of action. 

The Council may take into consideration the following factors when determining the most appropriate 

course of action: 

• The number of properties in the licence holders portfolio  

• The length of time the person has been a landlord, manager, or licence holder  

• Their willingness to engage and address issues at their properties  

• Confidence in the management to tackle the issues raised by the Council  

• The seriousness of the event.  

• Previous history 

There are criminal offences under Selective Licensing relating to failure to comply with the licensing 

requirements: 

It is a criminal offence to manage or have control of a property which is required to be licensed under Part 

3 and is not so licensed. On summary conviction, a person found guilty of such an offence may be given an 

unlimited fine. 

Where a licence holder, or person who has agreed to be bound by the licence, then breaches a condition of 

a licence without a reasonable excuse they will be guilty of an offence and may be fined under the Civil 

Penalty scheme under the Housing Act 2004. 

A person commits an offence if s/he knowingly supplies any information in respect of Part 3 licensing, to 

the Council or another person which is false or misleading or is reckless as to whether it is false or 

misleading. On summary conviction, a person found guilty of such an offence may receive an unlimited 

fine. 

Unlicensed Properties 

It is an offence for a landlord to rent a property in a designated area without applying for a Selective 

Licence. The Council will investigate and take enforcement action if/or when necessary, and this will be 

carried out in accordance with this Policy and the Enforcement Concordat. The Council may take action 

under the Civil Penalties scheme for such offences or take proceedings in the relevant Court. 

After promotion of the scheme, it is expected landlords will make an application for a licence in a timely 

manner. Where applications are not made or where properties are found to be unlicensed mid scheme, the 

Council will investigate those properties which there is reason to believe should be licensed but are not and 

will be charge a late application fee – See Fees and Charges. 

An unannounced property inspection that may include the Police/Immigration/Fire may be undertaken to 

all properties where no licence application is received to determine the standard and use of 

accommodation. The Council views the offence of failing to ensure that a rented home was licensed under 

its Selective Licensing Scheme as a significant issue, meaning that the tenants and wider community are 

~ Page 38 ~



 

17 
 

not protected by the additional regulatory controls afforded by licensing. It may also affect any decision 

regarding existing or future licenses both in South Wigston and within other local authorities. 

Other actions may be taken if concerns about the property are revealed during an investigation, e.g. a 

safety inspection under part 1 of the Housing Act 2004, to deal with category 1 or 2 hazards that have been 

identified during the inspection. Action may also be taken against the tenant in relation to anti-social 

behaviour or refuse concerns. 

Unlicensed properties may result in one or more of the following:  

• A caution  

• The application of a civil penalty charge as an alternative to prosecution.  

• A prosecution against the landlord/agent being considered, 

The following will be taken into consideration in determining which method of action to undertake: 

• There must be sufficient evidence to give a realistic prospect of conviction;  

• Is this the first time this landlords property has been uncovered as operating without a licence or are 

their previous similar offences  

• How long has the potential offence been committed for. Have there been complaints in relation to the 

property/landlord that have impacted on the tenants or local community.  

• Is the landlord new to the area, an existing licence holder, known to the Selective Licensing Team and for 

what reason, their history of compliance, willingness to comply.  

• Is there evidence of intentional non-compliance, neglect, recklessness or ignorance.  

• Does the owner/landlord have a reasonable excuse for failing to apply?  

• Is it in the public interest to pursue a prosecution?  

• Landlord/owner confidence, experience, training.  

• What would be the outcome/impact of a prosecution versus a civil penalty/caution (this is not an 

exhaustive list). 

Failure to Comply with and Provide Information to Confirm Licence Condition 
Compliance 

All Licence Holders renting out properties within the designated licensing area are expected to comply with 

the conditions of their licence under part 3 of the Housing Act 2004. Any licence holder, found to be in 

breach of their licence will be investigated by the Selective Licensing Team. 

There are many different examples that could be deemed as a licence holder breaching the terms of their 

licence which may include but is not limited to: 

• Failing to carry out repairs to property, as instructed by the Local Authority (this breach may result in the 

serving of an improvement notice under part 1 of the Housing Act)  

• Failure to provide requested information e.g. valid gas safety certificate and a satisfactory electrical 

installation condition report with the annual review or at any other time when requested.  

~ Page 39 ~



 

18 
 

• Failing (when requested by the Council) to provide other information on request such as copies of 

tenancy agreements or evidence of reference checks for new tenant’s or proof of correspondence 

regarding issues of anti-social behaviour. 

The Council will work to support licence holders who breach their licence for minor offences, they will 

provide support, education and guidance to help them comply with the licence conditions. However, the 

Council will consider revoking a licence where a licence holder is found to be in breach of their licence on 

more than one occasion. 

Any licence holder who fails to comply with the terms of their licence could experience difficulties in 

securing future landlord licenses both in Oadby and Wigston and with other Local Authorities. It is a 

criminal offence to breach the conditions of a Selective Licence. 

Every effort will be made by the Council to prevent a licence holder from breaching any of the conditions of 

their licence. However, it is the licence holder’s responsibility to ensure the property is being managed 

effectively and in accordance with the licence. Consideration will be given to a formal prosecution and/or 

the issue of a civil penalty charge for repeated breaches of licence conditions. 

If the requested information is not received and/or the Council suspect that an offence has been 

committed the licence holder or landlord/agent will be invited to attend a formal interview under caution 

under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE). PACE interviews are conducted under caution and 

are recorded, suspects have the opportunity to have legal representation present. The record of interview 

is admissible as evidence in any subsequent prosecution. Copies of the recorded interview may be provided 

to the suspect at the end of the interview or as soon as reasonably practicable afterwards. The Council will 

use the information provided by suspects in the PACE interview to help consider if further action is 

required, and what the course of action might be. 

Simple Cautions 

Under certain circumstances, a Simple Caution may be used as an alternative to prosecution and will 

usually be considered before making a decision to prosecute. A caution is a serious matter. It may be used 

to influence any decision whether or not to prosecute should the individual, organisation or business 

offend again and it may be referred to in any subsequent court proceedings. Simple cautions remain on 

record for a period of 3 years. 

If a Simple Caution is offered but not accepted the Council may take the case to Court for prosecution. 

Cautions are intended to:  

• Deal quickly and simply with certain, less serious offences;  

• Avoid unnecessary appearance in criminal courts;  

• Reduce the chance of offenders re-offending. 

Before issuing a caution the following matters will be taken into account when deciding whether a caution 

is appropriate:  

• There must be sufficient evidence to give a realistic prospect of conviction;  

• The offender must understand the significance of the formal caution and admit the offence by signing a 

declaration;  

• The seriousness of the offence, as a caution is not suitable for serious offences. 

~ Page 40 ~



 

19 
 

Decisions to issue a caution will be notified to all known interested bodies, including tenants, managers, 

freeholders, leaseholders and mortgagees. Where an individual chooses not to accept a simple caution the 

Council will consider other options such as a civil penalty or a prosecution. Simple Cautions are viewed as 

valuable enforcement tools because they can be cited in court if the same person or organisation, within 

three years of the original offence, commits similar offences and typically saves officer time and reduces 

the burden placed upon the court system. 

Prosecution 

The Council will use discretion in deciding whether to bring a prosecution and generally will only 

commence proceedings when it is considered to be in the public interest. The decision to prosecute lies 

with the Head of Law and Democracy 

Before deciding to prosecute there must be sufficient evidence for a realistic prospect of conviction, taking 

into account any defence that may be available. In certain circumstances, prosecution without prior 

warning may take place. 

The decision to prosecute will always take into account the criteria laid down in the Code for Crown 

Prosecutors issued by the Crown Prosecution Service I.e. the Evidential Test and the Public Interest Test. 

Each case that we deal with is unique and must be considered on its own facts. In deciding whether to issue 

a Simple Caution or proceed with a prosecution, the initial decision will be made by the enforcement 

officer in consultation with the line manager. Having collected and collated evidence, officers will produce 

a case file and forward this to the manager to review prior to it being forwarded to the Head of Law and 

Democracy to consider and review the merit of the proposed action. 

Civil Penalties 

As an alternative to prosecution a civil penalty can be issued for the offences committed under Part 3 of 

the Housing Act 2004 (section 95). The power to impose a civil penalty as an alternative to prosecution for 

these offences was introduced by section 126 and Schedule 9 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 and 

came into force on 6 April 2016. 

In the first instance, local authorities must have sufficient evidence to initiate a prosecution but the liable 

person can be issued with a civil penalty of up to £30,000 per offence as an alternative to prosecution. The 

liable person has a right to appeal to the First-Tier Tribunal (Residential Property Tribunal) following the 

issue of a Civil Penalty.. Any enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Housing Enforcement 

Policy and each case will be judged on its own merit.  

Other Sanctions available to the Local Authority 

In addition to the above, there are other enforcement options and sanctions which the Council have at 

their disposal, including but not limited to: 

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) 

HHSRS is the statutory approach to the evaluation of potential risks to health and safety from any 

deficiencies identified in dwellings. The underlying principle of the HHSRS is that any residential premises 

should provide a safe and healthy environment for any potential occupier or visitor. 

For the purposes of the HHSRS, it must be pointed out that the assessment is solely about the risks to 

health and safety. The feasibility, cost or extent of any remedial action is irrelevant to the assessment. For 

example some deficiencies, such as a broken stair tread or a leaking pipe, may be quickly, easily and 

~ Page 41 ~



 

20 
 

cheaply remedied, but while such deficiencies are present, the threat to health or safety can be 

considerable. 

The Council has a duty under the Act to take action if a Category 1 hazard is discovered in a property, and a 

discretionary power to take action to deal with a Category 2 hazard. 

The first step will be to approach the landlord (or agent) informally, however the amount of leeway 

allowed to a landlord (or agent) informally will be at the officer’s discretion. The officer will have regard to 

the requirements of the Regulators’ Compliance Code and the Enforcement Concordat, whichever one is 

applicable. 

If the landlord does not respond within a reasonable time, formal action is likely, which may include any of 

the following: 

• Service of an Improvement Notice (requires that the hazard is removed within a set time)  

• Make a Prohibition Order (prohibits the use of all or part of the dwelling)  

• Service of a Hazard Awareness Notice (for minor hazards, the notice simply advises and does not carry 

any formal sanctions)  

• Taking Emergency Remedial Action or making an Emergency Prohibition Order (if a category 1 hazard 

exists and is so serious that it represents an ‘imminent risk of serious harm’ to the occupants. Such a 

notice allows the Council to enter the premises and take urgent action to deal with the hazard. The 

Council can charge owners for the costs of this work but the owners have a right of appeal against the 

notice and the costs involved).  

• Make a Demolition Order.  

• Declare a Clearance Area. 

Even without using emergency powers, the Council can, with or without the agreement of the owner, carry 

out the works required in a notice and charge accordingly. Alternatively the owners can be prosecuted or 

issued with a civil penalty charge for failing to comply with an Improvement Notice or Prohibition Order. 

The Act also gives the Council the power to charge to recover the costs of any enforcement action: any 

such charge must be reasonable and only covers the Council’s actual costs. 

In addition the Council can and will levy a notice service charge in respect of each relevant statutory notice 

it serves, even if such a notice is later revoked or not acted upon by the Council the notice charge will 

remain. 

Statutory Notices 

A wide range of legislation contains provisions for the use of statutory notices, which legally require the 

execution of works, the removal of statutory nuisances or the protection of public health and/or safety. 

Only officers specifically authorised are permitted to serve statutory notices. 

All notices contain detailed notes that explain the effect of the notice and the recipient’s right of appeal. 

The Council will always be willing to discuss the works specified in the notice, as well as timescales given 

and the reason for the service of the notice. In emergency circumstances the Council is authorised to carry 

out works without the service of a notice; normally when this would cause an undue delay. 

In other situations, there is a presumption that notices will be served if the criteria set down in the 

legislation are met. However, this presumption can be rebutted depending on the circumstances of the 

case. As cases vary so much it is difficult to be prescriptive about when notices will not be served. 

~ Page 42 ~



 

21 
 

Each case is looked at individually and the following factors taken into account:  

• informal action has not achieved the desired effect  

• there is a lack of confidence that the individual/company will respond to an informal approach  

• there is a history of non-compliance with informal action  

• standards are generally poor with little management awareness of statutory requirements  

• the consequences of non-compliance could be potentially serious to the health and safety of the public. 

If the recipient fails to comply with the notice, the Council has various sanctions it can impose including: 

carrying works in default, prosecution, caution or the use of emergency powers. Statutory notices may also 

be served in conjunction with prosecutions. 

Having regard to statutory powers, and where the law allows, a charge will apply when issuing a statutory 

notice. All charges will be levied on the person upon whom the notice is served and will be made at a level 

fixed within the Council’s agreed fees and charges policy having regard to a written record assessing costs 

reasonably incurred. In all cases the Council will instigate debt recovery action. 

Where a notice is not complied with by the expiry date, a prosecution or the issue of a civil penalty charge 

maybe considered appropriate. In these circumstances a report, in accordance with the Constitution, will 

be made to decide what further enforcement action is appropriate. 

Works in Default 

In some circumstances, failure to comply with a notice may result in the Council arranging for the 

necessary works to be carried out (works in default). The cost to the owner will usually be more than if the 

owner carried out the works themselves as they will be charged for officer time on visits, carrying out 

schedules of work and any other reasonable costs incurred by the local authority. 

In determining whether carrying out works in default is the most appropriate course of action, we will 

consider the following: 

• The effects of not carrying out the work on the health and safety of the residents concerned.  

• The reason for the work not being carried out in the first place  

• Whether the benefits of doing the works justify the costs and pose the minimum burden to achieve the 

objective. 

It should be noted that carrying out works in default does not necessarily exclude the Council from either 

issuing a formal caution or prosecuting the offender. The Council are legally entitled to ensure that the 

work is carried out and will also consider if it is appropriate to take further action. 

The Council will actively pursue debts incurred. Enforced sale of empty properties will be considered where 

appropriate in line with The Law of Property Act 1925 where a debt has been incurred for example 

following works undertaken to an empty home in the owners default. Until the debt is cleared it will 

remain registered on the local Land Charges Register as a financial charge. Once it is registered the charge 

will accrue interest. 

 

 

~ Page 43 ~



 

22 
 

Rent Repayment Orders 

Rent repayment orders (RROs) are a mechanism under the Housing Act 2004 by which rent or Housing 

Benefit can be recovered from landlords found to be renting a property without a licence where one is 

needed. 

The Council can also apply to the First Tier Tribunal – Residential Property Tribunal to recover Housing 

Benefit paid in respect of a property during any period when it ought to have been licensed, but was not. 

The maximum that an authority may claim is twelve months Housing Benefit, during any period that a 

dwelling was not licensed. 

In addition, an occupier (or former occupier) may also be able to apply for a rent repayment order in 

respect of rent paid (less any Housing Benefit). To make an application for a rent repayment order, a tenant 

needs to submit a claim to the First Tier Tribunal which sets out the reasons for the claim and the dates to 

which it relates and includes: 

The offence must relate to housing that was occupied by the tenant at the time of the offence; and the 

application for a rent repayment order must be made within 12 months of the date that the offence was 

committed. 

Rent repayment orders were extended through the Housing and Planning Act 2016 to cover a much wider 

range of offences, described below: • Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice (section 30 of the 

Housing Act 2004)  

• Failure to comply with a Prohibition Order (section 32 of the Housing Act 2004)  

• Breach of a banning order made under section 21 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016  

• Using violence to secure entry to a property (section 6 of the Criminal Law Act 1977)  

• Illegal eviction or harassment of the occupiers of a property (section 1 of the Protection from Eviction Act 

1977) 

A rent repayment order can also be made against a landlord who has received a civil penalty in respect of 

an offence, but only at a time when there is no prospect of the landlord appealing against that penalty. The 

Council must consider a rent repayment order after a person is the subject of a successful civil penalty and 

in most cases the Council will subsequently make an application for a rent repayment order to recover 

monies paid through Housing Benefit or through the housing element of Universal Credit. 

Restrictions on Terminating Tenancies under Section 21 of the Housing Act 1988:  

Selective Licensing requirements can restrict the termination of assured shorthold tenancies. Under 

Section 21 of the Housing Act 1988, a landlord may serve a notice (known as a Section 21 notice) on an 

assured shorthold tenant, giving two months’ minimum notice that the landlord intends to apply for 

possession. Provided that the statutory requirements are met, a court must make an order granting 

possession to the landlord. No element of tenant default is required. However, a landlord may not give a 

Section 21 notice to a tenant of a property that is required to be licensed under a Selective Licensing 

Scheme, but that is not so licensed. 

Interim and Final Management Orders  

Where a licence has not been obtained, or where the licence conditions have not been complied with, the 

Council may, apply to take over the management of the property for an appropriate period of time, or use 

a managing agent. This provision is detailed under Part 4 of the Housing Act 2004. 

~ Page 44 ~



 

23 
 

 

Interim Management Orders (IMO)  

An interim management order is made for the purpose of securing any action that the Council considers 

necessary, to protect the health, safety and welfare of the occupants. There are specific circumstances 

when the Council will have a statutory duty to make an IMO on a licensable property (under Part 2 or Part 

3 of the Act) including: 

• Where a property that should be licensed but is not so licensed, and there is no reasonable prospect of 

it becoming licensed in the near future; 

• When a property that should be licensed but is not so licensed, and there are serious health, safety or 

welfare concerns that cannot be dealt with adequately by using the statutory powers available under 

Part 1 of the Act (e.g. Improvement Notices); 

• When the Council have revoked the licence from a licensable property and there will be no reasonable  

prospect of it becoming licensed again in the near future; 

• When the Council have revoked the licence; on a property and there will be (on the revocation date), 

serious health, safety or welfare concerns that cannot be dealt with adequately by using the statutory 

powers available under Part 1 of the Act (e.g. Improvement Notices). 

Interim management orders are in place for a maximum of one year. 

Final Management Orders (FMO) 

Final management orders (FMOs) are orders which may only be made after the making of an IMO. FMOs 

are similar to IMOs, but provide for a longer-term solution and can be in place for up to five years. An FMO 

must include a “management scheme” that sets out how the Council would manage the property while the 

FMO is in place. A management scheme must be in two parts, including: 

• Part 1 of the scheme must contain a plan giving details of the way in which the Council proposes to 

manage the house. 

• Part 2 must describe, in general terms, how the Council intends to address the matters which caused 

them to make the FMO. Under an FMO, the Council has the power to issue assured shorthold tenancies 

without obtaining permission from the landlord. 

• Any costs incurred by the Council during the course of the management orders (IMO or FMO) will be 

recovered by the Council from the rental Income. The Council may also decide to use the property to 

meet its own housing need and will follow its own allocations policy to re-let the property. The Council 

will assume full managerial responsibility for the property. 

Mandatory Duty to make a Final Management Order 

If the Council has made an IMO in respect of a property that is required to be licensed under Parts 2 or 3 of 

the Act (HMO and Selective Licensing) and it is of the opinion that on the expiry of the IMO there would be 

no prospect of it being able to grant a licence, it must make an FMO to replace the IMO prior to its expir 

If the reasons for the service of the management orders remain e.g. not a fit and proper landlord the 

Council would be obliged to make a further FMO. 

Discretionary Power to make a Final Management Order 

If the Council has made an IMO in respect of a property that is not required to be licensed under Parts 2 or 

3 of the Act (HMO and selective licensing), but it is of the opinion that there is a longer term need to 

~ Page 45 ~



 

24 
 

protect the health, safety and welfare of residents and neighbours, it may make an FMO to replace the 

IMO prior to its expiry. 

If the reasons for the service of the management Orders remain e.g. not a fit and proper landlord and the 

above conditions were to apply again prior to the expiry of the first FMO, the Council would be obliged to 

make a further FMO. 

Anti-Social Behavioural (ASB) 

Anti-social behaviour is defined as acting in a way that is capable of causing nuisance or annoyance to 

anyone. There are many issues which can affect a person within their own homes and can be categorised 

as anti-social behaviour including, but not exclusively: 

• Loud noise from neighbours  

• Harassing behaviour such as verbal abuse or threats  

• Vandalism, property damage and graffiti  

• Fly-tipping, dumping rubbish and abandoned cars  

• Animal nuisance including persistent dog barking and dog faeces. 

Anti-Social Behaviour Powers 

The Anti-Social Crime and Policing Act 2014 provides for a absolute ground for possession by private 

landlords where a tenant or member of their household or visitor has met one of the following conditions: 

• Is convicted of a serious criminal offence  

• Is found by a court to have breached an Injunction to Prevent Nuisance or Annoyance (IPNA)  

• Is convicted of breach of a Community Behaviour Order (CBO) 

 • Is convicted for breach of a Noise Abatement Notice  

• Tenants property closed under a Closure Order 

If a landlord applies to the court after serving the relevant notice then the court MUST grant possession 

provided the correct procedures have been followed. The courts discretion to suspend possession is 

restricted to 14 days or 6 weeks in exceptional circumstances. 

Partnership Working to Tackle ASB 

The Council’s Selective Licensing Team will take a lead role in improving partnership working by providing 

education and support for landlords in the management of tenants who cause anti-social behaviour. The 

Council will work in partnership with other agencies as well as the Police to tackle issues of ASB including 

supporting landlords through the eviction process should it become necessary to seek possession. 

If a landlord suspects criminal activity, s/he will immediately notify the appropriate authorities, including 

the anti-social behaviour officer or the police. The landlord must also participate in any case conferences or 

multi agency meetings that take place to address ASB associated with their property as detailed in the 

licence conditions. 

 

 

~ Page 46 ~



 

25 
 

Powers of Entry 

The Selective Licensing Scheme under the Housing Act 2004 gives authorised officers, on production of 

their authority, the power to enter premises at any reasonable time. These far reaching powers of entry 

allow access to ascertain whether or not a statutory nuisance exists; or for the purpose of taking any 

action, or executing any work, authorised or required by law. This may include inspections or the taking of 

samples, photographs, and recordings. 

Notice of entry is not required to be given in cases where the Council consider that the premises are 

unlicensed and should be licensed, or where there is a suspected breach of licensing conditions 

If entry is obstructed or refused the Housing Act 2004 allows the Council to obtain a warrant from a 

magistrates court. A warrant permits entry at any time (by force if needed) in order to ascertain whether 

there is a contravention of the relevant act or to carry out remedial action. 

Fee Payments 

Fees will be required at the point of application. On issuing of the Licence an invoice will be raised which is 

required to be paid within 30 days for the enforcement element of the Selective Licensing fee. 

Non-successful applicants will not be refunded the application fee. They will be advised the reasons for 

refusal. 

Revocation of a Licence  

A licence can be varied or revoked by the Council. The Council can revoke an application on its own 

initiative, on further application from the licence holder or their legal representative e.g. “any person who 

has an estate or interest in the house or part of it (but is not a tenant under a lease with an unexpired term 

of 3 years or less), or any other person who (but for the order) would be a person managing or having 

control of the house or part of” where an application to do so is made by the licence holder or their legal 

representative, or where the Council consider that:  

• The licence holder has seriously breached a condition of the licence, or repeatedly breached a condition 

of the licence or is no longer a fit and proper person.  

• The management of the house is being carried on by someone who is not a fit and proper person.  

• The property ceases to be one that requires a licence.  

• The property is granted a licence as an HMO (under part two of the Housing Act 2004). 

Incomplete licence applications 

Where an application is missing information that is required as part of the application process, one 

opportunity will be offered to supply the correct information (administration charge payable). Where 

information is still not supplied as required to comply with the requirements of an application the 

application will be returned. The applicant will be deemed to have not made a valid application and may be 

at risk of further investigation for failing to licence the property. 

~ Page 47 ~


	Agenda
	4 Proposed Selective Licensing Scheme (2025 – 2030)
	Appendix 1 - Consultation Outcome Report (To Follow)
	Appendix 2 - Summary of Consultation Responses (To Follow)
	Appendix 3 - Summary of Selective Licensing Engagement Q&A (To Follow)
	Appendix 4 - Consultation Request Card
	Appendix 5 - Selective Licensing and Enforcement Policy (2025 – 2030)


